Frederick Church of Christ
F-3-265

1305 North Market Street
Frederick, MD

1947-1948

Private access

Capsule Summary

The Frederick Church of Christ is located on a 0.83099-acre parcel at 1305 North Market Street in
Frederick. The property is located just outside the northern boundary of the National Register-listed
Frederick Historic District (Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties [MIHP] No. F-3-039). The
building comprises a main block and a rear addition. Both sections are one story in height with a raised
basement and are constructed of concrete block with brick facing. The main block exhibits elements of
the Gothic Revival architectural style, including an irregular plan, a steeply pitched roof, a castellated
tower, pointed-arch grouped windows, pointed-arch designs contained in rectangular stained-glass

windows, and tracery ornamentation in the front door lights.

The church was built on an undeveloped parcel located within the Maple Park subdivision, a planned
development platted in 1922. The Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church constructed the main block in
1947-1948 following their purchase of the property in 1947. The pastor, Elder David G. Fleagle, was a
former builder, and he directed the church’s construction with assistance from members of the
congregation and community. The Frederick Church of Christ constructed the church’s rear addition ca.

1970 following their purchase of the property in 1969.

The Frederick Church of Christ possesses significance in the area of architecture. The main block is an
example of post-World War II Gothic Revival design, illustrating the lingering use of that nationwide
style in mid-twentieth-century ecclesiastical architecture in Frederick. The main block retains most of its

original design elements and materials.
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1. Name of Property (indicate preferred name)
historic Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church
other Frederick Church of Christ (preferred)

2. Location

street and number 1305 North Market Street __not for publication
city, town Frederick __ vicinity
county Frederick

3. Owner of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name Frederick Church of Christ
street and number 1305 North Market Street telephone 301-662-5789
city, town Frederick state MDD zip code 21701

4. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Frederick County Courthouse liber 00817 folio 00519

city, town Frederick tax map 0409 tax parcel 0628C tax ID number  02-044838

5. Primary Location of Additional Data

Contributing Resource in National Register District

Contributing Resource in Local Historic District

Determined Eligible for the National Register/Maryland Register
Determined Ineligibie for the National Register/Maryland Register
Recorded by HABS/HAER

Historic Structure Report or Research Report at MHT

Other:

6. Classification

Category Ownership Current Function Resource Count
district public agricuiture landscape Contributing Noncontributing
X __building(s) X __private commerce/trade recreation/culture 1 buildings
structure both defense X _religion sites
site domestic social structures
object education transportation objects
funerary work in progress 1 Total
government unknown
health care vacant/not in use Number of Contributing Resources
industry other: previously listed in the Inventory
0




7. Descri ption Inventory No. F-3-265

Condition
X excelient ____deteriorated
___good ____ruins
___fair ____ altered

Prepare both a one paragraph summary and a comprehensive description of the resource and its various elements as it
exists today.

Introduction

The Frederick Church of Christ occupies a 0.83099-acre parcel at 1305 North Market Street in Frederick. The property is located just
outside the northern boundary of the National Register-listed Frederick Historic District (expanded); the assigned Maryland Inventory
of Historic Properties (MIHP) number for the district is F-3-039 (National Register of Historic Places 1988). The Frederick Church of
Christ stands on the west side of the street and faces east. A concrete sidewalk leads to the front entrance of the church. Landscaping
consists of front and side lawns, well-tended planting beds, and small shrubs and deciduous trees. The Frederick Church of Christ
converted a former lawn at the rear of the addition to a gravel parking lot for the church (Jim Denison personal communication May 3,
2013; Reed 2012).

The building, which is in excellent condition, comprises a main block and a rear addition. Both sections are one story in height with a
raised basement and are constructed of concrete block with brick facing (Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church 2012:8). The main
block exhibits elements of the Gothic Revival architectural style. The Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church constructed the main
block in 1947-1948 following their purchase of the property in 1947 (Frederick County Land Records (FCLR) ECW 460:331;
Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church 2012:7). The pastor, Elder David G. Fleagle, was a former builder, and he directed the
church’s construction with assistance from members of the congregation and community (Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church
2012:7; The Frederick Post October 4, 1948). The Frederick Church of Christ constructed the rear addition ca. 1970 following their
purchase of the property in 1969 (FCLR ECW 817:519).

Exterior
Main Block

The one-story-with-raised-basement, brick-faced main block rests on a concrete foundation with an irregular footprint. The main block
comprises a front-gable nave section (on the north) and a side-gable section (on the south). Both sections occupy rectangular
footprints. The combined sections create a modified T-shape, as shown in the attached sketch of the upper-level floor plan. The
intersecting, steeply pitched gable roofs of the sections are sheathed in asphalt shingles. The main block includes an off-center, flat-
roofed, castellated tower; the tower occupies a square footprint along the east (front) elevation at the junction of the two sections of
the main block. The tower rises to the height of the roof ridges and accommodates the building’s main entrance. The brick facing on
the concrete walls of the main block is laid in 8:1 common bond; every ninth row is a course of Flemish bond. A water table
constructed of vertically laid brick stretchers ornaments all elevations of the main block. Stained-glass windows original to the
building pierce the upper levels of each elevation; the windows have brick sills and metal-frame protective plexiglass. The lower
levels of each elevation feature painted, metal-frame, eight-over-eight-light, double-hung windows with brick sills; these windows
appear to be original to the building.

The one-bay tower provides the focal point of the front elevation of the main block. Concrete steps enclosed by brick sides with metal
railings lead to the building’s main entrance. The wood door features two blue stained-glass, rounded-arch lights over two rectangular
wood panels. The door is accented by sidelights; each sidelight contains one blue stained-glass, rounded-arch light over one
rectangular wood panel. The blue stained-glass door lights feature metal tracery. The door was renovated by the Frederick Church of
Christ during the early 1970s after they purchased the church in 1969 (Jim Denison personal communication May 3, 2013). The door
is topped by a pointed-arch, stained-glass window installed by the Frederick Church of Christ during the renovation. The window
features the words “CHURCH OF CHRIST” and is accented by a row of brick headers along its edges. Two decorative metal lamps
flank the front door. A rectangular stained-glass window pierces the south wall of the tower. The front and south elevations of the
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tower feature a round opening in the top portions of the walls; the opening is encircled by brick headers and is enclosed with modern
prefabricated material.

The east (front) elevation of the front-gable nave section of the main block (north of the tower) contains two bays. A stained-glass trio
window arrangement occupies the upper level. The arrangement consists of two pointed-arch units with a round unit between and
above them. The name “CHURCH OF CHRIST” appears in white letters south of the window arrangement. On the lower level of this
portion of the elevation, one eight-over-eight-light window occupies the northernmost bay; the southernmost bay is blind. A brick-
and-glass sign box advertising the church has been installed in the planting bed in front of these windows. The four-bay north
elevation of the nave section contains four symmetrically located rectangular stained-glass windows on the upper level and three
eight-over-eight-light windows on the lower level. The westernmost bay is blind on the lower level. The west (rear) elevation of the
nave section features an off-center, exterior brick chimney flanked by one bay on the north and three bays on the south. The two
outermost bays of the upper level contain rectangular metal-frame, single-light windows, and the two central bays are blind. Each
lower-level bay features an eight-over-eight-light window. A metal vent is located in the gable, just beneath the roof ridge. The two-
bay south elevation of the nave section includes two openings on the upper level that consist of a metal pedestrian door in the west bay
and a rectangular stained-glass window in the east bay.

The east (front elevation) of the side-gable section of the main block (south of the tower) contains one bay that features a rectangular
stained-glass window on the upper level and an eight-over-eight-light window on the lower level. The south elevation (gable end) of
the side-gable section features a stained-glass trio window arrangement on the upper level; the arrangement is similar to the window
grouping on the front elevation of the nave section. The lower level of the elevation contains an eight-over-eight-light window in the
west bay and a one-light metal pedestrian door in the east bay. A metal vent is located in the gable, just beneath the roof ridge. The
west (rear) elevation of the side-gable section has three bays. Rectangular stained-glass windows occupy the upper levels of the two
southernmost bays; eight-over-eight-light windows are located on the lower levels of these bays. The northernmost bay contains a
nine-light pedestrian door on the lower level. Concrete steps with a metal railing provide access to the door.

Addition

A two-level, covered corridor connects the rear elevation of the main block to the building’s addition. Both levels of the corridor have
concrete floors and metal railings. Metal posts support the shallow-gable roof sheathed in asphalt. A metal staircase on the south side
provides access to the upper corridor.

The one-story-with-raised-basement, brick-faced rear addition rests on a concrete foundation and occupies a rectangular footprint. The
addition terminates in a gable roof sheathed in asphalt shingles. The brick facing on the concrete block walls is laid in a running-bond
pattern.

The east elevation (gable end) of the addition connects to the main block of the building via the corridor. A two-level elevator shaft
with metal pedestrian doors, each of which has one small light, is located along this elevation on the south side of the corridor. An off-
center, exterior brick chimney rises along the elevation on the north side of the addition.

The south and north elevations of the addition each contain four symmetrical bays. On the south elevation, metal-frame, one-over-one-
light, double-hung windows occupy the upper and lower levels of each bay. On the north elevation, identical windows occupy the
westernmost three bays. The lower level of the easternmost bay contains a metal pedestrian door accessed by concrete steps with a
metal railing; the upper level of this bay is blind.
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The west elevation (gable end) of the addition has three bays. On the upper level, a central metal pedestrian door is flanked by metal-
frame, one-over-one-light, double-hung windows. The door is accessed by a metal staircase with a metal railing; metal posts support a
shed porch roof. A similar door is located in the central bay on the lower level; this door is accessed via concrete steps with metal
railings.

Interior
Main Block

The upper-level floor plan is illustrated in the attached sketch. The front entrance of the building leads to an upper-level vestibule that
occupies the tower and features a decorative metal ceiling lamp that is original to the building. The vestibule has vinyl flooring. The
Frederick Church of Christ completed interior renovations to the main block during the early 1970s following their purchase of the
building in 1969 (Jim Denison personal communication May 3, 2013; Reed 2012). A narrow stairway previously occupied the
southwest corner of the vestibule. The stairway was removed during the renovations. Paired wood-panel doors on the north wall of the
vestibule lead to the nave. A door opening on the west wall of the vestibule provides access to the nave’s annex.

The nave is illuminated primarily by the stained-glass trio window arrangement on the east wall and the rectangular stained-glass
windows along the north wall. Each rectangular stained-glass window contains a design enclosed by a pointed-arch border. Decorative
metal ceiling lamps that are original to the building provide additional light. The stage area occupies the west end of the nave and
consists of a stepped platform partially within an alcove that is original to the building (Reed 2012; Frederick Seventh-day Adventist
Church 2012:7). A podium stands on the platform. The Frederick Church of Christ enlarged the stage area and added stone
ormamentation along the west wall of the alcove. A baptistry is located on the north side of the stage area. The nave has minimal
ornamentation. The floor is carpeted.

The annex is located on the south side of the nave in the side-gable section of the main block. A“welcome room,” which formerly
served as the minister’s office, and a stairwell are located off the south side of the annex. The “welcome room” occupies the southwest
corner of the side-gable section. The Frederick Church of Christ constructed a stairwell east of the “welcome room™ as part of the
1970s renovations. The side entrance on the lower level of the south elevation (gable end) of the side-gable section was added during
these renovations.

The lower level of the main block contains three offices, a nursery, and a mechanical room. Concrete-block walls are visible in the
mechanical room. The Frederick Church of Christ converted one large room into the offices and nursery and replaced the former floor

carpeting.
Addition

The majority of the lower level of the rear addition is occupied by a large fellowship hall that has a carpeted floor, metal support poles,
and flourescent ceiling lights. A kitchen, a small fellowship room, and a storage room are located along the north wall (east to west).
The upper level of the addition features classrooms. The classrooms and central hallway are decorated with wall murals.




8. Significance inventory No. F-3-265

Period Areas of Significance Check and justify below
__ 1600-1699 __ agriculture __ economics __ health/medicine __ performing arts
__1700-1799 __ archeology __ education __ industry __ philosophy
__1800-1899 X architecture __ engineering __ invention __ politics/government
X 1900-1999 __art __ entertainment/ __ landscape architecture __ religion
__ 2000- ___ commerce recreation _ law __ science
__ communications ___ ethnic heritage __ literature __ social history
__ community planning  __ exploration/ __ maritime history ___ transportation
___conservation settlement __ military __ other:
Specific dates 1947-1948 Architect/Builder  Elder David G. Fleagle

Construction dates  1947-1948, ca. 1970

Evaluation for:

National Register Maryland Register X not evaluated

Prepare a one-paragraph summary statement of significance addressing applicable criteria, followed by a narrative discussion of the
history of the resource and its context. (For compliance projects, complete evaluation on a DOE Form — see manual.)

Statement of Significance

The Frederick Church of Christ possesses significance in the area of architecture. The main block is an example of post-World War 11
Gothic Revival design, illustrating the lingering use of that nationwide style in mid-twentieth-century ecclesiastical architecture in
Frederick. Gothic Revival traits exhibited by the Frederick Church of Christ include the irregular plan, the steeply pitched roof, the
castellated tower, the pointed-arch grouped windows, the pointed-arch designs contained in the rectangular stained-glass windows,
and the tracery ornamentation in the front door lights. The main block retains most of its original design elements and materials.

Architectural Context: Gothic Revival Ecclesiastical Architecture

The Gothic Revival architectural style for church buildings became well established in the United States during the mid-nineteenth
century (Rifkind 1980:137). Invoking the English medieval parish church, Gothic Revival ecclesiastical design was popularized by
architects Richard Upjohn and James Renwick. Especially preferred by Episcopalian and Catholic parishes, the Gothic Revival church
reflected “a new intensity of religious attitude and a revived orthodoxy in religious practice” (Rifkind 1980:137).

The Gothic Revival church plan typically consists of a rectangular nave with projecting additions such as towers, vestibules,
baptisteries, and various service rooms, resulting in an irregular footprint. Gothic Revival church buildings are of masonry or frame
construction and exhibit characteristics such as steeply pitched roofs, pointed-arch window openings (either single or grouped),
stepped buttresses, and recessed openings (Rifkind 1980:138). Gothic windows often feature tracery ornamentation (Bucher 1996).

During the twentieth century, the Gothic Revival style remained popular for ecclesiastical architecture throughout the United States.
Selective historical details were used in a manner that was compatible with modern needs (Rifkind 1980:158). Gothic Revival
ornamentation was used in a manner that expressed “a quiet, rather than a blatant, originality” (Rifkind 1980:158). The style’s
popularity for ecclesiastical construction declined after the 1920s. At that time, other styles such as Georgian, Colonial, or
Romanesque were preferred (Rifkind 1980:158).

Property History

The Frederick Church of Christ was constructed as the Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church in 1947-1948 on an undeveloped
parcel located within the Maple Park subdivision. Platted in 1922, the Maple Park subdivision was a planned development that
reflected the broader pattern of residential development in the City of Frederick during the early twentieth century. The church
property is located in the 1300 block along North Market Street, just outside the northern boundary of the National Register-listed
Frederick Historic District (expanded) (National Register of Historic Places 1988). The National Register of Historic Places
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Nomination Form for the expansion of the historic district identifies two residential building types constructed within the city during
the district’s period of significance: “the vernacular attached building and the free-standing, more stylistic residence” (National
Register of Historic Places 1988:7/2). The vernacular detached building was characterized as having two to three stories, two to three
bays, and a shallow set back. The free-standing, more stylistic residence was characterized by its “scale, proportions and setting,”
which included a greater set-back and increased building size (National Register of Historic Places 1988:7/3). Free-standing
residences became the norm after 1890 and appeared “in areas south, west, and north of the established [city] grid pattern,” including
the Maple Park subdivision (National Register of Historic Places 1988:7/3).

The Maple Park subdivision extended west from North Market Street to North Bentz Street, with interior lots fronting 12® and 13®
Streets, the two streets immediately south of the present-day church property. Lots within the subdivision were subject to restrictions
regarding building placement, use, and occupancy. The lots fronting 12" and 13™ Streets had a minimum set-back of 25 feet, with
larger, 88-foot set-backs on the lots fronting North Market Street. Stables could not be erected on the front portion of any lot. For a
term of 25 years, no lots could be used for business purposes (FCLR Plat Book STH:139).

The Chesapeake Conference Association of Seventh-day Adventists purchased Lots 10 and 11 of the Maple Park subdivision in
February 1947 as the site of their new church building (FCLR ECW 460:331). Construction of the building was organized by Elder
David Fleagle and completed largely through the efforts of the congregation and volunteers from the community. Construction of the
church foundation began in March (Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church 2012:7). In August, The Frederick News reported that
construction had begun on the roof “with their leaders from both Virginia and Maryland assisting Elder David Fleagle” (The Frederick
News August 2, 1947) The church building was completed in 1948, and the first service was held on October 2 of that year (Frederick
Seventh-day Adventist Church 2012:7). The Frederick Post reported on the church dedication ceremony:

More than 400 persons attended dedication ceremonies for the church, which was largely built by the laymen
themselves, directed by the local pastor, Elder David Fleagle.

“Qur little group of 42 persons could never have built this church, estimated by contractors as a $50,000 structure,
by themselves.” Mr. Fleagle told the group. “Almost everybody in town had a hand in it. Electricians and other
skilled workmen donated their services, businessmen gave money and materials. We feel that this is in a special way
the community’s church.” [The Frederick Post October 4, 1948]

A church school was operated in the basement of the church building from 1951 until 1963, when construction was completed at the
Frederick SDA Church School on Shookstown Road (Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church 2012:9). The congregation of the
Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church grew rapidly during the 1960s. Much of this growth resulted from expansion at nearby Fort
Detrick, as “U.S. Army servicemen who were part of the White Coat Operation at Fort Detrick and their families joined the growing
congregation” (Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church 2012:9). As the congregation outgrew the church building, the decision was
made to temporarily relocate to the Shookstown Road School gymnasium until a new building could be constructed. The congregation
held their final service at the North Market Street church building on December 27, 1969 (Frederick Seventh-day Adventist Church
2012:7,9).

On December 31, 1969, the Frederick Church of Christ purchased the North Market Street church property (FCLR ECW 817:519).
During the early 1970s, the Frederick Church of Christ constructed the rear addition and undertook renovations to the main church
building. Alterations included renovation of the front door and replacement of the stained glass over it, relocation of the interior
stairway to the church basement, reconfiguration of the basement rooms, and replacement of the basement floor carpeting. Interior
renovations to the nave included enlargement of the stage area and the addition of stone ornamentation to the alcove. The Frederick
Church of Christ also converted the rear lawn to a gravel parking lot (Jim Denison personal communication May 3, 2013).
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The chain of title for the Frederick Church of Christ summarizes its history of property ownership:

Liber/Folio Date Grantor/Grantee

ECW 817/519 12/31/1969 Chesapeake Conference Association of Seventh-day Adventists to
Frederick Church of Christ; designated as Lot Nos. 10 and 11 on plat of
“Maple Park” dated 10/21/1922 (FCLR Plat Book STH:139), excepting
parcel previously conveyed (FCLR ECW 469:99); no restrictions on use or
occupancy

ECW 460/331 2/5/1947 Robert L. Grove and Elizabeth F. Grove (his wife) to Chesapeake
Conference Association of Seventh-day Adventists; Lots 10 and 11 of a
Sub-division or Development known as “Maple Park™; subject to existing
restrictions

ECW 442/334 6/9/1944 Clifford A. Bayard, et al. to Robert L. Grove and Elizabeth F. Grove (his
. wife); Lots 10 and 11 of a Sub-division or Development known as “Maple
Park”; subject to existing restrictions

RLL 1/390 7/12/1941 Stephen A. Bayard (Last Will and Testament) to Clifford A. Bayard, et al.;

(Wills) Lots 10 and 11 of a Sub-division or Development known as “Maple Park”;
subject to existing restrictions

EGH 354/331 8/27/1925 Dora C. Fowler to Stephen A. Bayard and Sarah R. Bayard (his wife); Lots

10 and 11 of a Sub-division or Development known as “Maple Park™;
subject to existing restrictions

EGH 340/568 12/15/1922 William C. Neidig to Dora C. Fowler; Lots 10, 11, 50, 51, 59, and 60 of a
Sub-division or Development known as “Maple Park™; subject to seven
restrictions on occupancy and use

WIP 4/231 4/12/1887 George Lawrence Cramer and Mary O. Cramer to William C. Neidig; sum
of $10,250.00; part of “Taskers Chance” also known as “Holly Park”
containing 21 acres of land; sale included 1/4 of wheat crop “now
growing” and the “hanging lamps attached to and now in the dwelling
house”; grantor reserved right of entry to harvest wheat crop; no
restrictions on occupancy or use
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See continuation sheet.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of surveyed property 0.83099
Acreage of historical setting 0.83099
Quadrangle name Frederick, MD Quadrangle scale: 1:24,000

Verbal boundary description and justification

The property boundaries are those of the 0.83099-acre parcel owned by the Frederick Church of Christ (Map 0409, Parcel 0628C).

11. Form Prepared by

namettitle Kathryn Dixon, Historic Preservation Specialist; Jennifer Evans, Historian
organization R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc. date May 2013
street & number 241 East Fourth Street telephone  301-694-0428
city or town Frederick state MD

The Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties was officially created by an Act of the Maryland Legislature
to be found in the Annotated Code of Maryland, Article 41, Section 181 KA,
1974 supplement.

The survey and inventory are being prepared for information and record purposes only
and do not constitute any infringement of individual property rights.

return to: Maryland Historical Trust
Maryland Department of Planning
100 Community Place
Crownsvilie, MD 21032-2023
410-514-7600
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Inventory No. F-3-265

Photo Log

The following information is the same for each photograph:

MIHP # F-3-265
Frederick Church of Christ
Frederick County, MD

. May 3, 2013
MD SHPO

S N N

Kathryn Dixon, R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc. (RCG&A)

. Photo paper and ink: HP Vivera ink 97 Tri-Color cartridge, 101 Blue Photo cartridge, and 102 Gray

Photo cartridge on HP Premium Photo Paper (high gloss)

F-3-0265_2013-05-03_01.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_02.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_03.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_04.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_05.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_06.tif

F-3-0265_2013-05-03_07.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_08.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_09.tif

F-3-0265_2013-05-03_10.tif

F-3-0265_2013-05-03_11.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_12.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_13.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_14.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_15.tif
F-3-0265_2013-05-03_16.1if

. Verbatim Ultralife Gold Archival Grade CD-R, PhthaloCyanine Dye

Context, view northwest from North Market Street
Main block, east (front) elevation

Main block, northeast corner

Main block and addition, southeast corner

Main block, tower, east (front) elevation, door detail
Main block, side-gable section, east (front) elevation,
window detail

Main block, nave section, north elevation

Main block, nave section, west (rear) elevation

Main block, nave section, south elevation; connecting
corridor, south elevation

Main block, side-gable section and tower, southeast
comner

Main block, side-gable section, southwest corner
Connecting corridor, north elevation

Addition, southeast corner

Addition, northwest corner

Main block, nave interior, upper level, view west
Main block, nave interior, upper level, view east
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